Austerberry v. Wells Fargo Home Mortgage Doc. 13

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN
SOUTHERN DIVISION

MARIANNE AUSTERBERRY,
Plaintiff, Case No. 15-cv-13297
v UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

GERSHWINA. DRAIN
WELLS FARGOHOME MORTGAG
& UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE

Defendant. MoNA K. MAJzouB

/

OPINION AND ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART
DEFENDANT’SMOTION TO DISMISS [6]

|. INTRODUCTION

On August 18, 2015, Plaintiff Marianne Austemye(“Plaintiff’) commenced this action
in the Circuit Court of Oaklan@ounty, Michigan. Dkt. No. 1, p. ¥,1 (Pg. ID No. 2). Plaintiff's
Complaint alleged counts of wrongful foreclosuwiolations of the Real Estate Settlement
Procedures Act (RESPA), 12 U.S.C. § 266tLseq negligence; breach aontract; and silent
fraud and fraudulent misrepresentatiod®e Dkt. No. 1-2, pp. 7-17 (Pg. ID No. 16-26).
Defendant Wells Fargo (“Defend) removed the case toderal court on September 17, 2015.
SeeDkt. No. 1, p. 1 (Pg. ID No. 1).

The matter is presently before the Courtlefendant’s Motion to Dismiss, pursuant to
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). Dkin. 6, p. 1 (Pg. ID No. 49). Plaintiff opposes the
Motion and filed a responseiéf on October 11, 2015, to wiidefendant replied on October
26, 2015.SeeDkt. No. 10, 12. For the reasons discussed herein, the CouGRMANT in part

andDENY in part Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss [6].
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[l. BACKGROUND

On September 3, 2004, Plaintiff obtained ano(the “Loan”) in the amount of
$128,400.00 from World Savings Bank, FSB (“LendeDkt. No. 6, p. 12 (Pg. ID No. 60). To
evidence the loan, Plaintiff executed a promisswte (the “Note”) secured by a mortgage (the
“Mortgage”) on real property, located at 1515 Larkmoor Boulevard, Berkley, Michigan 48072
(the “Property”).See id Defendant Wells Fargo is hder’s successor by mergét.

Plaintiff was fired from hejob in or around February 2012, and stopped making loan
payments in May 2013. Dkt. No. 1-2, p. 4, 11 7-8 (Pg. ID No. 13). She requested mortgage
assistance from Defendant in June 2088e id at { 9. In January 2014, Defendant informed
Plaintiff that her home was in active foreclasstatus, although no sale date was schedBkssl.

id. at 1 18.

Plaintiff secured new employment in ©ber 2014 and her counsel contacted Defendant.
See idat 1 24. Defendant informed Plaintiff's countelt the foreclosure sale was scheduled for
October 28, 2014See id at | 25. Attempting to adjourn tiereclosure sale, Plaintiff received
and completed new loan modification documents in November Zxetlid at 7 26-27. The
foreclosure sale was adjourned two timesor to proceeding on February 17, 208ge id at
19 29-30, 34. Defendant purchased the Property for $89,285.00 at the Sheriff's Sale and
recorded the deed dfebruary 25, 20155eeDkt. No. 6, pp. 12-13 (Pg. ID No. 60-61). Plaintiff
did not redeem the Property prior t@ ttedemption period ending on August 17, 2@ée id at

13.

[ll. LEGAL STANDARD
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) authorizes dismissal of a complaint for “failure

to state a claim upon which relief can be grdritédo withstand a motion to dismiss pursuant to
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Rule 12(b)(6), a complaint must comply witretpleading requirements of Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 8(a)See Ashcroft v. Igbab56 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). Rule 8(a)(2) requires “a short
and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief, in order to give the
defendant fair notice of what the . . . claim is and the grounds upon which it BslisAtl.

Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007) (quotation marks omitted) (quotiemg K. Civ. P.
8(a)(2); Conley v. Gibson355 U.S. 41, 47 (1957)). To methis standard, a complaint must
contain sufficient factual matter, apted as true, to “state a claim to relief that is plausible on its
face.” Twombly 550 U.S. at 570see alsolgbal, 556 U.S. at 678-80 (2009) (applying the
plausibility standard articulated frwombly.

When considering a Rule 12(b)(6) motion deésmiss, the Court must construe the
complaint in a light most favorable to the plaintiff and accept all of his or her factual allegations
as true.Lambert v. Hartman517 F.3d 433, 439 (6th Cir. 2008). However, the Court need not
accept mere conclusory statements or legatlusions couched as factual allegati@ee Igbal
556 U.S. at 678.

In ruling on a motion to dismiss, the Courtyr@nsider “the Complaint and any exhibits
attached thereto, publiecords, items appearingtime record of the cas@@ exhibits attached to
defendant’s motion to dismiss so long as they are referred to in the Complaint and are central to
the claims contained thereirBassett v. Nat'l Collegiate Athletic Ass™®28 F.3d 426, 430 (6th
Cir. 2008). The Court may also consider “downts incorporated into the complaint by
reference, and matters of whicle@urt may take judicial noticeTellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues &
Rights, Ltd, 551 U.S. 308, 322 (2007). This may im# “documents relating the note,

mortgage, assignment, loan modification process] foreclosure thatre referenced in the



complaint and integral to [plaintiff's] claimsGardner v. Quicken Loans, InNG67 F. App’x
362, 365 (6th Cir. 2014).

IV. DISCUSSION

A. The Court Will Dismiss Plaintiff's Wrongful Foreclosure Claim

Plaintiff alleges in Count I of her Corgint that Defendant failed to follow the
foreclosure process specdien Mich. Comp. Laws 8§ 600.3204t seq Specifically, Plaintiff
asserts Defendant:

a. Fail[ed] to properly calculate the amout#imed to be due on the date of the
notice of foreclosure;

b. Fail[ed] to post notice of the foreclosure sale on the Subject Property;

c. Fail[ed] to publish notice of the foreclosure sale for four consecutive weeks in
the newspaper;

d. [Failed to] [p]roperly pulsh notice of adjournmerih accordance with [Mich.
Comp. Laws §] 600.3220; and

e. Fail[ed] to follow RESPA, the Real tate Settlement Procedures Act (12

U.S.C. 8§ 2601 et seq.) and its implenting regulation, Regulation X, 24

C.F.R. 8 3500, and its additional regulations added and effective on [January

10, 2014], specifically 12 C.F.R. § 1024.38 and 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41, which are

written into Plaintiff's mortgage contract.
Dkt. No. 1-2, pp.7-8, 1 38 (Pg. ID No. 16-17). As rdiiefthis claim, Plaintiff seeks to set aside
the sheriff’'s deed, order Defendant to evallitentiff for home retention options, and obtain
any other relief that the Cduideems just and equitabldd. at 8. Defendant contends that this
claim is invalid because Plaifitfailed to provide factual saport for her “speculative and

conclusory” claims and did nghow any resulting prejudicBeeDkt. No. pp. 15-23 (Pg. ID

No. 63-71).



“[Dlefects or irregulaties in a foreclosure proceedingsudt in a foreclosure that is
voidable, not voidab initio.” Kim v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A93 Mich. 98, 115, 825
N.W.2d 329, 336 (2012). A plaintiff nsti show that she was prejodd by a defendant’s failure
to comply with Mich. Comp Laws 800.3204 to set aside a foreclosure slleTo establish
prejudice, plaintiffs must show that “they wouldve been in a better position to preserve their
interest in the property absent defemcianoncompliance with the statut&im, 825 N.W.2d at
337. Such prejudice may be showrhié plaintiff demonstrates ability to redeenthe property
prior to the end of the redemption peri@ke Derbabian v. Bank of Am., N.B87 F. App’X
949, 956 (6th Cir. 2014).

“A mortgagor ‘has not plausibly alleged sugtejudice’ if ‘'she ha not alleged that she
qualified for loan modification before the sheriff's saleld’ (quotingOlson v. Merrill Lynch
Credit Corp, 576 Fed. Appx. 506, 512 (6th Cir. 2014)). “WiH&he mortgagor would have been
in no better position had notice been fully proged the mortgagor lost no potential opportunity
to preserve some or any portion of his insérm the property,” courts uphold a completed
foreclosure sale.Lessl v. CitiMortgage, Inc515 F. App’x 467, 469 (6th Cir. 2013) (quoting

Jackson Inv. Corp. v. Pittsfield Products, Int62 Mich. App. 750, 756 (1987)).

I. Miscalculation of Amount Claimed to Be Due

Plaintiff's argument that Defendant miscaldelh the amount claimed to be due on the
date of the notice of foreclosuis not elaborated on or suppartey factual allgations in the
Complaint. Plaintiff also does natldress this issue in her respmndespite the argument against
this claim in Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. fhwermore, Plaintiff has made no attempt to
allege prejudice or a causal relationship betwbeermiscalculation and prejudice. Since Plaintiff

failed to provide any factual suppdor this allegation, it is dismissed.
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il. Failure to Post and Publish Notice of Foreclosure Sale and Adjournment

Similar to the miscalculation claim above,aitkiff also did not provide any factual
support for her claims that Defemdadid not post notice of the feclosure salen her property
and did not publish notice for four consecutweeks. Plaintiffs Response to Defendant’s
Motion to Dismiss also neglected to mentioegé allegations. As Defdant noted, Plaintiff's
Complaint explicitly states that Defendant pama notice of the February 2015 foreclosure sale.
SeeDkt. No. 6, p. 16 (Pg. ID No. 64). FurthermoEgfendant provided two sworn affidavits
evidencing that foreclosure notice was posteda conspicuous place on the property on
September 26, 2014 and published in the Oakl@amahty Legal News on September 24, October
1, October 8, and October 15, 2014. Dka. 8-5, pp. 5-6 (Pg. INo. 112-13). Accordingly,
based on the facts presented and Plaintiff's faikor argue on this pdiror rebut Defendant’s

argument, this allegation is dismissed.

iii. Failure to Post and Publish Notice of Adjournment

Plaintiff also claims that Wells Fargo dibt properly publish notice in accordance with
Mich. Comp. Laws 8§ 600.3220, but again did naivsie any factual algations or arguments
on the issue. Defendant similarly failed to makey arguments regarding notice of adjournment,
instead relying on notice of the foreclosure sale it&#eDkt. No. 6, p. 16 (Pg. ID No. 64).
Considering the absence of factual allegatievijence, and argument on this claim, the Court
finds that the pleadings fail to satisfy the lemistandard necessary to survive a 12(b)(6) motion.
See Twombly550 U.S. at 555 (“While a complaint attacked by a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to
dismiss does not need detailedtial allegations, . . a plaintiff's obligdion to provide the

“grounds” of his “entitle[ment] to teef” requires more than labetd conclusions . . . ."”). Since



Plaintiff's only allegations on this point are the conclusory allegation that Defendant failed to

comply with Mich. Comp. Laws § 600.3220, this allegation is dismissed.

iv. Failure to Follow RESPA

In the final allegation under &htiff's wrongful foreclosue claim, she asserts that
Defendant failed to follow R&PA and Regulation X, “speaifally 12 C.F.R. § 1024.38 and 12
C.F.R. 8 1024.41,” without detailing which subisaes Defendant allegeglviolated. Defendant
counters that since Plaintiffs RESPA claims @Gount | relate to her request for a loan
modification, they do not show a defect iretforeclosure process necessary in a claim of
wrongful foreclosureSeeDkt. No. 6, p. 17 (Pg. ID No. 65).

Plaintiff's Response arguesathher prejudice from being properly evaluated for a loan
modification under RESPA satisfies tharslard for prejudice as statedkiim. See493 Mich. at
115-16, 825 N.W.2d at 337 (“To demonstrate suchudreg, they must show that they would
have been in a better position to preservertirgerest in the property absent defendant’s
noncompliance with the statute.”). Such amlajoes against Sixth Quit precedent, which
clearly states that “[a]n alleged irregularity the loan modification process . . . does not
constitute an irregularity in the foreclosure proceedi@ampbell v. Nationstar Mortgagé11
F. App’x 288, 294 (6th Cir. 201%ert. denied136 S. Ct. 272 (2015) (ftling the district court
properly dismissed plaintiff's tav mortgage-foreclosure cases where plaintiff alleged prejudice
deriving solely from a failure to receive a loan modificatia®e also Ashford v. Bank of Am.,
N.A, No. 13-12153, 2013 WL 5913411, at *3 (E.D. Mi@rct. 31, 2013) (concluding that the
manner in which the defendant “handled potential loss mitigation or modification . . . has no
bearing on the forecloseirprocedure itself”’)Shamoun v. Fed. Nat'l Mortg. AssptNo. 12—

15608, 2013 WL 2237906, at *4 (E.D. Mich. May 2113p (concluding that allegations that
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defendant prevented plaintiff from entering imtdoan modification were insufficient to justify
setting aside the foreclosure sale).

Accordingly, as Plaintiff's allegations und®ESPA arise out of the loan modification
process, rather than the foreclosure pseceher RESPA allegations within her wrongful

foreclosure claim are properly dismissed.

V. Demonstration of Prejudice Stemming from Violations

Had Plaintiff adequately pled factual alléigas giving rise to anrregularity in the
foreclosure process, she would also need tdkstathat these irregularities prejudiced her in
order to survive a motion to dismiss. Defendaoitends, and the Court agrees, that she did not.

As mentioned above, Plaintiff's allegations pfejudice derive solely from the loan
modification process. Plaintiff stated that “slhas prejudiced by the improper evaluation for a
loan modification” because if properly evaluatside “would not be facing the prospect of losing
her home to foreclosure.” Despite Plaintiff's reliance Kim, the case does not support her
position that an improper evaluation for loarodification is sufficient prejudice to void a
foreclosure saleSee Derbabian587 F. App’x at 956 (determimg that a plaintiff's argument
that she was not offered a loan modifioatiwas insufficient to establish prejudic€lark v.
Ocwen Loan Servicing, LLQNo. 1:15-CV-659, 2015 WL 6159447, at *3 (W.D. Mich. Oct. 20,
2015) (finding an argument for prejudice premised on a failure to respond to a loan modification
request did not state a atafor wrongful foreclosure).

Plaintiff acknowledges that she was imfeed that her house was scheduled for
foreclosure sale as early as October 2014 8bes not dispute that she defaulted on her
mortgage. She did not assert that she qualifiech loan modification, only that she was not

properly evaluated. Plaintiff allegano facts that indicate shaok action to redeem the Property
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or had the financial ability to do s8ee Derbabian587 F. App’x at 956 {ifiding plaintiffs did
not adequately plead prejudice where they failedliege an ability to redeem the property or
pay off the debt owed). Consealg, the record does not supptine conclusiorthat Plaintiff
alleged prejudice necessary tatsta claim for wrongful foreckure. The Court will dismiss

Count | of Plaintiff’'s Complaint.

B. The Court Will Not Dismiss Plaintiffs RESPA Claim Under § 1024.41

In her second count, Plaintiff claims tH2g¢fendant violated 12 C.F.R. 88 1024.38 and
1024.41, which she seeks to enforce under RESPA, 12 U.S.C. § 2605(f). Dkt. No. 1-2, pp. 8-12,
19 37-48 (Pg. ID No. 17-21). For relief, Plaintiff attks Court to set aside the Sheriff's Sale,
order Defendant to conduct a proper evatratf her loan for modification, and award her
damages, including emotional damages, elimomatif all arrearage addé¢o her loan, costs,
attorney fees, the fair market value of heme, her down payment, and home eq@8e id at
11-12. For the reasons detailed below, the Geilirtdecline to dismiss Plaintiff's claim under

§1024.41.

I. 12 C.F.R. 8§ 1024.38

Plaintiff's allegations undeg 1024.38 state that Defendgmrticipates in the Home
Affordable Mortgage Program (HAMP), which regpd Defendant to suspend the Sheriff's Sale
if loan modification documents were submitted seven days before the sale was to takd.place.
at § 45. Although Defendant did naddress this subsection in Motion to Dismiss, review of
the regulation and related cases makes ¢hestr Plaintiff's allegations under § 1024.38(b)(2)
fail.

Section 1024.38 sets forth seimig policies, procedures, amelquirements, one of which

is “[p]roperly evaluating loss mitigation ajqtions.” 12 C.F.R. § 1024.38(b)(2). However,
-0-



unlike 8 1024.41, discussed below, § 1024.38 doemalide a provision that allows borrowers
to enforce provisions of the sext pursuant to section 6(f) ®ESPA. The Consumer Financial
Protection Bureau explained in dfficial interpretation of § 1024.38:

Ultimately, the Bureau agrees with thentoenters that allowing a private right

of action for the provisions that set forgeneral servicing policies, procedures,

and requirements would create significhtgation risk ... The Bureau believes

that supervision and enforcement by thed2w and other Federal regulators for

compliance with and violations & 1024.38 respectively, would provide robust

consumer protection without subjecting\seers to the samétigation risk and

concomitant compliance costs as civil liability for asserted violations of
§ 1024.38.

Mortgage Servicing Rules Unddre Real Estate SettlemenbPedures Act (Regulation X), 78
Fed. Reg. 10696, 10778-79 (Feb. 14, 2013) (restructurenfjrtal rule so that private liability
for violations of § 1024.38 is not provided). Basedthe official interpret#gon of the regulation,
the Court concludes that whildaintiff is protected by § 1024.38(R), she lacks a private right
of action to enforce the rulgrovision against Defendar@ee Smith v. Nationstar Mortgagdko.
15-cv-13019, 2015 WL 7180473, at *4 (E.D. Mich. Nd%, 2015) (holding that violations of
§ 1024.38 cannot support a private actichdrade v. Carrington Mortgage Servs., LLKo.
15-cv-713, 2015 WL 7108119, at *3 (W.Mich. Nov. 13, 2015) (samegharp v. Deutsche
Bank Nat. Trust Co.No. 14-cv-369-LM, 2015 WL 47784, at *6—7 (D.N.H. Aug. 11, 2015)

(same).

il. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41

Plaintiff also advances a claim under feuibsections of 8§ 1024.41, which does provide
for a private cause of action. 12 U.S.C. § 1024.4¢faporrower may enforce this provision of
this section pursuant to secti6(f) of RESPA (12 U.S.C. 2605).”). Defendant argues that

Plaintiff's § 1024.41 claim fails fawo reasons: first, Defendaatgues that they were only
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required to consider one of Plaintiff's two subted loan modification applications in December
2013 and November 2014; and second, Defendant atsitbat Plaintiff's chim fails to allege
actual damages, necessary to maintain 8f¥claim. Dkt. No. 6, pp. 23-27 (Pg. ID No. 71—
75).

Plaintiff's claims arise under subsiens (c), (d), (f) and (g) of 8 1024.43eeDkt. No.
1-2, pp. 8-12, 1 37-48 (Pg. ID No. 17-21). Subsetijprequires a servicer to promptly
evaluate all loss mitigation options availabléhe borrower and provide the borrower with a
notice in writing stating the seper’s determination if the saper receives a complete loss
mitigation application more than 37 days brefa foreclosure sale. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(c).
Subsection (d) requires the serviteprovide specific reasons fthre servicer’'s determination in
the notice of the denial of loan modification iops to the borrower, as well as whether the
borrower was not evaluated on other criteriaCI2.R. § 1024.41(d). Subsgmwt (f) prohibits the
servicer from making the first notice or filingrfthe foreclosure process after the borrower has
submitted a complete loss mitigation applicatimmess the servicer notifies the borrower that
she is not eligible for any loss mitigation aptj the borrower rejects the offered loss mitigation
option, or the borrower fails to perform undee tigreed upon loss mitigation option. 12 C.F.R.
§ 1024.41(f)(2). Subsection (g) proli#ba loan servicer from feclosing on a property in certain
circumstances if the borrower has submitted a complete loss mitigation application 37 days or

more before the foreclosisale. 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(Q).

a. Plaintiff States a Claim that Defendant Did Not Follow the
Requirements of § 1024.41 as to Her First Application

It is true that a “servicer ignly required to comply witthe requirements dhis section

for a single complete loss mitigation application for a borrower’s mortgage loan account.” 12
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C.F.R. § 1024.41(i). Any allegations stemming Bofeom Plaintiff’'s second loan modification
application, submitted in November 2014, are properly dismissed.

However, there is no evidence that Defertdamplied with § 1024.41’s requirements in
evaluating Plaintiff’s first application, subtted in December 2013. To the contrary, Plaintiff
sufficiently alleges that Defendant violated requirements for loss mitigation procedures in
handling the original applicath. She states that Defenddid not evaluate her for loss
mitigation options and provide written notice within 30 days, as requbesDkt. No. 1-2, p.

10, 1 42(a) (Pg. ID No. 19). Instead of evaluattantiff and providing her with a proper denial
or offer of modification, Plainti asserts that Defendant proceededh with a foreclosure sale.
See id. at 1 42(c), (d). Defenddrats not countered Plaintiffalegations regarding the first
application, arguing only #t it had no obligation to complyith 8§ 1024.41’s requirements as to
the second application. Although f8adant had no duty to providdaintiff with any specific

loan mitigation option, 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41(a), Deffent was required to promptly evaluate and
respond to Plaintiff’s first loss mitigation applicat prior to noticing a foreclosure and selling

the Property.

b. Plaintiff's Requests for Arrears, Coss, and Attorney Fees Qualify as
Actual Damages

Defendant next argues that if the Court filRIEESPA applies, then Plaintiff's claim fails
for not seeking actual damages proximatelyseduby the serviceralleged violationSeeDkt.
No. 6, pp. 24-25 (Pg. ID No. 72-73). Defendant ends that RESPA does not permit the Court
to issue an order to set aside the foreclosuressdterequire Defendamb evaluate Plaintiff's
eligibility for a modification to her loan. RESP3pecifically provides for teef in the form of

“actual damages to the borrower as a resultefdiiure,” statutory damages for “a pattern or
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practice of noncompliance,” attay's fees, and the costs o$accessful legal action. 12 U.S.C.
8§ 2605(f).

The Court agrees that RESPA doesprowide for inunctive relief.See Caggins v. Bank
of New York MellonNo. 15-cv-11124, 2015 WL 4041350,*at(E.D. Mich. July 1, 2015)

(“There is no provision found in RESPA under whElaintiff can seek to have foreclosure
proceedings nullified, or force Defendants to negetaloan modification.”). Plaintiff's requests

to set aside the Sheriff's Sale and order the Defendant to conduct an evaluation are not permitted
in a RESPA claim.

Accordingly, Plaintiff's relief under RESPA Isnited to damages. The damages Plaintiff
seeks include: “emotional damages, eliminatioalb&rrearage added Riaintiff’'s mortgage
loan that resulted from Defendantilegal activity, costs, attornefges, the fair market value of
Plaintiff’'s home, Plaintiff's down payment, ahdme equity.” Dkt. No. 1-2, p. 12 (Pg. ID No.
21). However, Defendant asserts that the rrageelief Plaintiff seeks does not qualify as
actual damages because she did not allegettvb@aamages are or how they are traceable to
Defendant’s conduct. Dkt. No. 6, p. 26 (Pg. ID No. 74).

Although the Sixth Circuit has stated tlaatual damages under RESPA may include
emotional damages, such an allegation ratikimeet the minimum pleading standards under
RESPA.See Houston v. U.S. Bank HoMertgage Wisconsin Servicing05 F. App’'x 543, 548
(6th Cir. 2012) (remanding for a determinatafrdamages where the plaintiff alleged she
suffered “stress, mental anguish, embarrassment, and humiliation,” because of the defendant’s
violation). Here, Plaintiff made a threadbataim for “emotional damages” without any detalil
as to the symptoms or severitiithe emotional distress or ha»efendant allegedly caused these

damagesSee Eichholz v. Wells Fargo Bank,,NWo. 10-CV-13622, 2011 WL 5375375, at *5
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(E.D. Mich. Nov. 7, 2011) (“Metg claiming to have suffededamages, without more,
epitomizes conclusory pleading.”). Therefore, Plaintiff has not properly pled emotional damages
arising from Defendant’s RESPA violatidBee Szczodrowski v. Specialized Loan Servicing,
LLC, No. 15-10668, 2015 WL 1966887, at *7-8 (E.DcMiMay 1, 2015) (denying plaintiff's
RESPA claim for failure to adequately pleatiat damages where plaintiff alleged “emotional
damages due to the stress’aoflefendant’s violationEgichholz No. 10-CV-13622, 2011 WL
5375375, at *5 (granting summary judgment in fasbdefendant wherthe plaintiffs RESPA
claim alleged that he suffered a “range of ineemegative emotions” instead of actual damages).
Plaintiff's alleged damages of “the fair matkvalue of Plaintiffs home, Plaintiff's down
payment, and home equity,” similarly lack amagtual allegations that ttkem to Defendant’s
alleged violations. On their faces, the loss aheaf these three items clearly resulted due to
Plaintiff's own default. Even takg Plaintiff's allegationss true, the fact &t Defendant did not
properly evaluate Plaintiff's fst application did not result ihe Property being sold at a
foreclosure sale. RESPA only granted borrowers the right to have their first loan mitigation
application considered and to betified promptly thereafter—did not give borrowers the right
to loan modifications and to maintain passien of properties upon vah they defaulted.
Nonetheless, Plaintiff's requests for relief i fiorm of arrearage added to her loan as a
result of Defendant’s violation, costs, and atéyrfees do state a valid claim for actual damages
under RESPASee Braat v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.No. 1:15-cv-483, 2015 WL 5225604, at *2
(W.D. Mich. Sept. 8, 2015) (allowing a RESPAich alleging damages of accrued “arrearage
resulting from Defendant’s actions and costs athorney fees” to survive a motion to dismiss);
Billings v. SeterusNo. 1:14—cv-1295, 2015 WL 1885627*atW.D. Mich. Apr.24, 2015)

(denying dismissal of a RESPA claim allegiingonetary damages in the amount [plaintiff]
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owes in arrears and costs and attorney fedggordingly, Plaintiff's RESPA claim will be
allowed to proceed based on these allegatibastual damages accruing from Defendant’s

violation of § 1024.41.

C. The Court Will Dismiss Plaintiff's Negligence Claim

In Plaintiff's third count, sb contends that Defendant owed her a duty under federal
regulations to evaluate and respond to Ipptieations for a loamodification, and that
Defendant’s “negligent mishandling” ber applicationsaused her injurySeeDkt. No. 1-2, pp.
12-14, 11 49-57 (Pg. ID No. 21-23). This claim smdssed since Plaintiff failed to allege a
duty owed to her by Defendant.

Under Michigan Law, a plairffimust prove four elements toake a prima facie case of
negligence: (1) a duty owed by a defendant to apifior the public; (2)a breach of that duty;
(3) the plaintiff suffered damages; and (4) the breach of duty caused the dafales.
Union-Commerce Associates’0 Mich. 460, 463, 683 N.W.2d 587, 590 (2004). Relying solely
on Mik v. Federal Home Loan Mortgage Cor@g43 F.3d 149 (6th Cir. 2014), Plaintiff asserts
that a violation of federal law by itself can allowlaintiff to bring a state law negligence claim.
Dkt. No. 1-2, p, 13, 1 57 (Pg. ID No. 22).

Plaintiff's allegations fail to satisfy theréit element of a negligence claim because she
does not point to any case law that has prelyaesognized that feddreegulations regarding
loan modification impose a duty of care on the senor holder of thenortgage. In fact, the

Sixth Circuit has explicitly rejected similaraiins, finding that lenders have no duty of care to

! Causation is comprised of two separate elements: (1) cause in fact, and (2) legal, or proximagkicaase.
v. Square D Co445 Mich. 153, 162-163, 516 N.W.2d 475 (1994).
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evaluate loan modification ajgations under HAMP in MichigarRush v. Magc792 F.3d 600,
605 (6th Cir. 2015)eh’g deniedAug. 12, 2015) (“Under Michigalaw, a homeowner who has
defaulted may not simply waive the contract and in negligence.”). Coaguently, as Plaintiff

failed to show Defendant owed a duty ofecty Plaintiff, Countll is dismissed.

D. The Court Will Dismiss Plaintiff’ s Breach of Contract Claim

In Count IV, Plaintiff alleges that the No&md Mortgage on thieroperty constituted a
contract between her and Defendant, and th&ridant breached an implied covenant of good
faith and fair dealing when it: “[d]isingenudysegotiate[ed] loss mitigation assistance,”
“falsely den[ied] Plaintiff any assistanoader the HAMP guidelines by failing to conduct a
proper evaluation and ... follow notice requirements,” “failled] to mitigate damages and properly
process and evaluate Plaintiff falk home retention options,” arithil[ed] to notify the Plaintiff
of an approval or denial of her request for stesice and proof Plaintiff was properly evaluated.”
SeeDkt. No. 1-2, pp. 14-15, 11 58-62 (Pg. ID [88-24). Since state law does not allow for
this claim, the Court wildismiss Plaintiff's Count IV.

“Michigan does not recognize a cause ofatfor breach of the implied covenant of
good faith and fair dealingFPodale v. Waste Mgmof Michigan, Inc.271 Mich. App. 11, 35,
718 N.W.2d 827, 841 (2006) (citigelle Isle Grill Corp. v. Detrojt256 Mich. App. 463, 476,
666 N.W.2d 271 (2003)plaintiff cites toStephenson v. Allstate Ins. C828 F.3d 822, 826 (6th
Cir. 2003), for the principle that “[a]n impliembvenant of good faith and fair dealing in the
performance of contracts is recognized by Mjein law only where ongarty to the contract
makes its performance a matter of its own disonetiHowever, that exception arises only when
parties agree to defer decision on a pardictérm of the conact to one partySee id at 826.

Since loan madification fails to fall with this exception, Plaintiff's claim failSee Deming-

-16-



Anderson v. PNC Mortgagélo. 15-CV-11688, 2015 WL 4724805, at *6 (E.D. Mich. Aug. 10,
2015) (dismissing a claim nearly identical to Ridi’s). Accordingly, Count IV of Plaintiff's

Complaint is dismissed.

E. The Court Will Dismiss Plaintiff's Silent Fraud and Fraudulent Misrepresentation
Claim

In her final claim, Plaintiff alleges that Defendant made false statements that constituted
silent fraud fraudulent misrepresentatibkt. No. 1-2, pp. 15-16, {1 63-68 (Pg. ID No. 24-25).
She claims that these representations indbeedo refrain from dending the foreclosur&ee
id. at § 68. This claim will also be dismissed because Plaintiff did not state sufficient facts upon
which relief could be granted.

A claim for fraudulent misrepresetitan requires a plaintiff show that:

(1) the defendant made a material repreden; (2) the representation was false;

(3) when the defendant made the repngéation, the defendant knew that it was

false, or made it recklessly, without knoddge of its truth as a positive assertion;

(4) the defendant made the representation with the intention that the plaintiff

would act upon it; (5) the plaintiff acteal reliance upon it; and (6) the plaintiff

suffered damage.
Bergen v. Baker264 Mich. App. 376, 382, 691 N.W.2d 770, 774 (2004) (quadirg D, Inc. v.
McConkey 231 Mich. App. 22, 27, 585 N.W.2d 33 (1998)& D, Inc. v. McConkey226 Mich.
App. 801, 806, 573 N.W.2d 281 (1997)). Additionally, unither silent fraud doctrine, a plaintiff
may establish a cause of action when the defarslgopressed materiaicts and there was a
legal or equitable duty of disclosutd. at 774—75. Furthermore party alleging fraud must
“state with particularity the circumstances ditnsing fraud” under Rul@®(b) of the Federal

Rules of Civil Proceduresee alsdMich. Ct. R. 2.112(B)(1) (requimg allegations of fraud to be

stated with particularity).
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In the Sixth Circuit, plaintiffsnust “(1) specify the statemisrthat the plaintiff contends
were fraudulent, (2) identify ghspeaker, (3) state where ancewlthe statements were made,
and (4) explain why the statements were fraudulémahk v. Dana Corp.547 F.3d 564, 570
(6th Cir. 2008) (quotingsupta v. Terra Nitrogen Corpl0 F.Supp.2d 879, 883 (N.D. Ohio
1998)). “At aminimum [p]laintiffs must allege the time, place and contents of the
misrepresentations upon which they relidd.”(emphasis added).

Plaintiff's allegations fail tgrovide the detail necessarypgmperly state a fraud claim.
On the issue of silent fraud, Plaintiff does statte which, if any, marial facts Defendant
suppressed or even mention the Defendant’'gedleluty of disclosure. Since Plaintiff has not
pled a silent fraud claim, this allegatias part of Count V is properly dismissed.

Regarding fraudulent misrepresentation, PlHistallegations alsdall short of pleading
requirements. Plaintiff does notgwide the specific statementsatiwere allegedly fraudulent,
information as to why the statements were féalse time that these sémhents occurred, or the
place where they were mad&ee Derbabian587 F. App’x at 953 (concluding the district court
properly dismissed a claim of frdulent misrepresentation where thlaintiffs did not “identify
the exact speaker, the precise statement neaidbe date when and the place where the
statement was uttered.”). In addition, Pldfmever identifies any athe speakers upon whose
statements she relied, stating in her response that their identities wacolered in discovery.
SeeDkt. No. 10, p. 23 (Pg. ID No. 219). If Plaiffitonly sought specific names, to supplement
factual allegations that included the contentgtisnd place of falsepresentations, allowing

her to flesh out her claim in discovery mightfa&. However, based on the numerous broad and
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nonspecific allegatiorfsthe Court is not convinced thagtkircumstances of fraud were pled
with enough specificity “to aledefendants to the particularstbe allegations against them so
they can intelligently responaind “whittle down potentially wide-ranging discovery to only
relevant matters.Thompson v. Bank of Am., N.A73 F.3d 741, 751 (6th Cir. 20148h’'g
denied(Dec. 24, 2014).

Although Plaintiff alleged facthat indicate she engagedartiong and drawn-out process
in an attempt to obtain a loan modificatishe has not articulatedplausible claim for
fraudulent misrepresentation. Riaff did not allege that angf Defendant’s representatives
specifically promised her a loan modification unb&MP, only that she was led to believe that
she would qualify. The Sixth Cirdunas previously held thateglstonewalling of a plaintiff's
modification application does notwg rise to a claim for misrepresentation, absent a pleading of
a specific false promise upon whittte plaintiff reasonably relie&ee Thompso773 F.3d at
753. Thus, even taking the facts alleged as tedendant’s conduct wadinot support a claim
for fraudulent misrepresentation.

Even if Plaintiff had sufficiently allegeal claim of fraudulent misrepresentation—which
she did not—it would be barred by the statute afifis applicable to fimeial institutions. Mich.
Comp. Laws 8 566.132 (stating that a “promise@nmitment to renew, extend, modify, or
permit a delay in repayment or performanca tdan ... or other financial accommodation” is
void unless it is “in writing and ghed with an authorized signatuny the party tbbe charged”).

“The language of this statute is unambiguooud should be read as amqualified and broad

2 Some of these allegations conflict with the facts pletieean Plaintiff’'s Complaint. For instance, she claims
in Count V that Defendant assured her no foreclosure sale would take place, Dkt. No. 1-2, pp. 1%e-16) {Rg.
ID No. 24-25), while simultaneously claiming that Defendant told her in Octobdedavember 2014 that her home
was scheduled for foreclosure sale on specific diteat 1 25, 29 (Pg. ID No. 15-16).
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ban’ of any claim—’'no matter its label'—againstiancial institution teenforce the terms of an
oral promise waiving a loan provisiorWilliams v. Pledged Prop. Il, LLG08 F. App’x 465,
468-69 (6th Cir. 2012) (quotingrown Tech. Park v. D & N Bank, FSB42 Mich. App. 538,
619 N.W.2d 66, 72 (2000)).

Even if Defendant’s representatives had misgepnted that her application for mortgage
assistance was complete, that she qualifieddeive a modification, or that Defendant would
delay the foreclosure sale untitexfthe evaluation of Plaintiffeequest for mortgage assistance,
these statements would qualify as “finad@ccommodation” that requires signed written
authorizationSee idat 469 (quotind-El Co. v. Republic Bank, S,Bo. 268700, 2006 WL
2313612, at *2 (Mich. Ct. App. Aug. 10, 2006);di Comp. Laws 8§ 566.132(2)(a)) (“[A]n
agreement to delay a foreclosure sale is aeeggent to make a ‘financial accommodation.’ ”);
Goryoka v. Quicken Loan, In&G19 F. App’'x 926, 928 (6th Ci2013) (finding “allegations of
modification discussions weresufficient to avoid the foreclosure... unless the promise is
written and signed”). Since PIldifi does not allege that Defendantnisrepresentations were in
writing, she cannot assert a cldion fraudulent misrepresentationhe Court will also dismiss

Count V of Plaintiff's Complaint.

V. CONCLUSION
Accordingly, for the reasons disgsed in detail above, the CoGRANTS in part and
DENIES in partDefendant’s Motion to Dismiss [6[T IS HEREBY ORDERED that Counts I,
I, IV, and V of the Complaint [1] arBISMISSED WITH PREJUDICE . Plaintiff’'s remaining
claim under Count Il, alleging violations of 12 C.F.R. § 1024.41, will be allowed to proceed.

IT 1S SO ORDERED.
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Dated: December 7, 2015
HGershwin A Drain

HON. GERSHWINA. DRAIN
UnitedStatedDistrict CourtJudge
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